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Byproducts of 'Blaszczak': Property, Personal Benefits and Prosecutions
A discussion of the recently decided case ‘United States v. Blaszczak,’ where the Second Circuit addressed the definition of “property” under the
general federal fraud statutes, specific securities fraud statutes, as well as whether the personal benefit test should be required in an insider trading
prosecution.

February 14, 2023 at 10:00 AM

Securities Litigation
By James M. Roberts | February 14, 2023 at 10:00 AM

A client at a hedge fund calls you up and says that she’d like to talk about a profitable trade
they just completed.  Unfortunately, they’re not celebrating—they’re breaking out in a cold
sweat because they just received an inquiry from the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
She explains that they shorted the stock of a healthcare company based on information from a
firm that the fund pays for market intelligence on healthcare companies.

The intelligence provider told your client that they learned from an insider that the company
was going to miss its earnings forecast.  The information turned out to be spot on.  The stock
dropped and her fund cleared $2 million from its short position.  But what your client really
wants to talk about is whether the government is going to charge her with insider trading.

Until recently, the answer to this question in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit
might have turned on whether the insider (the “tipper”) received a “personal benefit” from
providing the information.  Five weeks ago, however, in United States v. Blaszczak, 2022 U.S.
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App. LEXIS 35638 (2d Cir. Dec. 27, 2022) (Blaszczak II), the Second Circuit addressed, albeit
in the context of confidential government information, the definition of “property” under the
general federal fraud statutes, specific securities fraud statutes, as well as whether the
personal benefit test should be required in an insider trading prosecution brought under
Section 1348 of Title 18—a securities fraud statute added as part of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 (“Section 1348 Securities Fraud”).

Thus, the analysis of whether your client’s cold sweat is warranted appears to have changed.

The Scheme in ‘Blaszczak’

After leaving the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), David Blaszczak became
a “political intelligence” consultant to hedge funds. The government alleged that in that
capacity he obtained confidential information about predecisional CMS information from inside
sources at the agency and provided it to his hedge fund clients. The hedge funds, in turn,
shorted stock in companies that would be adversely affected by the future CMS rule and
because the information provided by Blaszczak was accurate, profited from the trades.

In one alleged episode, Blaszczak met with a CMS employee, Christopher Worrall, at CMS’
headquarters in Maryland. The next day, Blaszczak emailed a hedge fund client to set up a
call so to discuss, as he described it, one of the client’s “favorite topics.” This turned out to be
predecisional CMS information related to changes in reimbursement rates for radiation
oncology treatment. This, along with additional information provided by Blaszczak, led the
client to short the stock of several companies that would be, and subsequently were,
adversely impacted by the CMS rule change. These trades reaped $2.73 million in profits for
the firm.

The Federal Charges

The government charged the defendants with securities fraud, wire fraud and conversion of
federal property, all relating to the misappropriation and use of the confidential CMS
information. In charging the alleged insider-trading scheme, the government chose to not only
pursue a traditional violation of Section 10(b) of Title 15 of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934 (“Title 15 Securities Fraud”), but also to charge the defendants with a Section 1348
Securities Fraud predicated on the same conduct.

Jury Instructions and Verdict

At trial, the district court instructed the jury, pursuant to Dirks v. SEC, 463 U.S. 646 (1983), that
in order to convict the defendants of Title 15 Securities Fraud, the government had to prove
the following beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) that as to Worrall, he “tipped” the CMS
information for a “personal benefit;” (2) that as to Blaszczak, he knew that Worrall “tipped” the
information for a “personal benefit;” and (3) that as to the hedge fund employees, they knew
that a CMS insider tipped the information in exchange for a personal benefit. United States v.
Blaszczak, 947 F.3d 19, 29 (2d Cir. 2019) (Blaszczak I).
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As to the Title 18 fraud counts, however, the district court found that no such “personal
benefit” test was required, and that fraud could be found if a defendant “participated in a
scheme to embezzle or convert confidential information from CMS by wrongfully taking that
information and transferring it to his own use or the use of someone else.” Blaszczak I, 947
F.3d at 29. The district court also instructed the jury that “confidential information” could be
considered “property” for purposes of a Section 1348 Securities Fraud. Id.

After four days of deliberation, the jury acquitted all the defendants of the Title 15 Securities
Fraud charges (requiring proof of a personal benefit) but found various defendants guilty of
Title 18 Wire Fraud and Section 1348 Securities Fraud (which did not require proof of a
personal benefit).

‘Blaszczak I,’ ‘Kelly’ and Property

On appeal, the defendants argued that (1) the confidential CMS information was not “property”
for purposes of the federal wire fraud statute or Section 1348 Securities Fraud, and (2) the
district court erred by not instructing the jury that the Dirks “personal benefit test” applied to
Section 1348 Securities Fraud.

The Second Circuit rejected both arguments and held that “in general, confidential
government information may constitute ‘property’ for purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and 1348”
and “the personal-benefit test does not apply to the wire fraud and [Section 1348 Securities
Fraud] statutes.” Blaszczak I, 947 F.3d at 34, 37.!!

The defendants sought certiorari from the Supreme Court, but while the petition was pending,
the Supreme Court decided Kelly v. United States, 140 S. Ct. 1565 (2020). In Kelly, the
government prosecuted then-Governor Chris Christie’s Deputy Chief of Staff and the Port
Authority Deputy Director for their decision to shut down two lanes of the George Washington
Bridge’s toll plaza reserved for Fort Lee, New Jersey commuters in retaliation for the mayor’s
refusal to endorse Governor Christie—what became known as “Bridgegate.” The court held
that the realignment of the lanes was an exercise of regulatory power, that a scheme to alter
that choice did not amount to taking the government’s property, and that any costs associated
with the conduct were merely incidental to, and not the object of, the scheme. Id. at 1568-69.

In perhaps a tactical retreat after Kelly, the Solicitor General asked the Supreme Court to
grant the Blaszczak defendants’ petition for certiorari, vacate Blaszczak I, and remand the case
to the Second Circuit.

‘Blaszczak II’

On remand, the government conceded that (1) “confidential government information…
typically must have value in the hand of the relevant government entity to constitute ‘property’
for purposes of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 1348,” and (2) that the property must “constitute ‘an
object of the fraud.’” Blaszczak II, 2022 U.S. App. LEXIS at *13-14. The government asked the
court to either reverse the convictions or remand the case to the district court so that it could
seek dismissal of the affected counts.
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Citing the need for its own analysis of the property issue, the majority in Blaszczak II
concluded that in light of Kelly, the CMS information could not be considered
“property.” Blaszczak II, 2022 U.S. App. LEXIS at *37. It reasoned that unlike the confidential
information of a commercial entity such as the Wall Street Journal in Carpenter v. United
States, 484 U.S. 19 (1987), the information of a regulatory agency like CMS was not its “stock
in trade, to be gathered at the cost of enterprise, organization, skill, labor, and money, and to
be distributed and sold to those who [would] pay for it.” Blaszczak II, 2022 U.S. App. LEXIS at
*33-34.

In addition, the CMS information was “regulatory in character” and, unlike the information in
Carpenter, premature disclosure to others would have “no direct” on the agency’s finances. Id.
at *34.!!In the end, the Circuit reasoned that obtaining advance information about a future,
potential regulatory change was one step removed from the regulatory conduct at issue in
Kelly, and therefore could not be considered property for purposes of the fraud statutes. Id. at
*36.!!

In dissent, Judge Sullivan warned of the implications of the majority’s holding. Kelly, he wrote,
did nothing to alter the conclusion that under established precedent misappropriation of
confidential information without the owner’s knowledge and then trading on that information
constituted wire fraud and Section 1348 Securities Fraud. Furthermore, the majority’s holding
would permit “sophisticated insiders to leverage their access to confidential government
information and sell it to the highest bidders[.]” Blaszczak II,!!2022 U.S. App. LEXIS at *48-50.

Personal Benefit Test?

Importantly, the majority in Blaszczak II did not address the issue of whether an insider trading
case under Section 1348 Securities Fraud required the government to establish that a tipper
received a personal benefit. In a concurring opinion, Judge Walker (joined by Judge Kearse)
noted that letting the Blaszczak I opinion stand on this point would inhibit market analyst
activity because mere possession of information from a tipper might constitute a federal crime
or, at least, create uncertainty about whether such a crime was committed. The concurrence
also expressed concern that failing to include the personal benefit test as a necessary
component of a Section 1348 Securities Fraud prosecution arising from insider trading could
allow prosecutors to use “threat of criminal exposure (or a referral from the SEC to a United
States Attorney’s Office) as a weighty cudgel in plea bargaining and extracting civil
settlements.” Blaszczak II, 2022 U.S. App. LEXIS at *47-48.

Conclusion

Unfortunately for both the client and the practitioner, the Blaszczak decisions have muddied
the waters when it comes to insider trading prosecutions. Fortunately, it also provided
opportunities for counsel If the personal benefit portion of Blaszczak I stands, the government
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could charge the client under Section 1348 simply for possessing and trading on the
confidential information—even though the client might not be civilly or criminally liable under
Title 15 for the exact same conduct because the tipper did not receive a personal benefit.

Nevertheless, counsel should argue that the government must establish a personal benefit to
the tipper and the client’s knowledge of that benefit even if the government intends to pursue
a Section 1348 Securities Fraud for insider trading.

Similarly, counsel should argue for an expansive reading of Blaszczak II that would distinguish,
even in a purely commercial context, the inside earnings information from other forms of
inside information, such as the company’s efficacy studies, that more closely resembles the
information found in Carpenter that can be monetized by the company or may affect its
finances.

Although the healthcare company may have expended time, effort, and money to create its
earnings information, and may wish to keep that information confidential until its release, this
data would not be distributed and sold as the company’s stock in trade nor have any
independent economic value to the company. Similarly, although the information may
negatively affect the value of the stock, such premature disclosure would not necessarily have
any direct impact on the company’s finances.

James M. RobertsJames M. Roberts is counsel at Schlam and Stone.


